# RECEIVED

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** 

## 03-19-2015

**OF WISCONSIN** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT\_I\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

No. 2014AP702-CR

MIGUEL MUNIZ-MUNOZ,

Defendant-Appellant.\_\_\_\_\_

## ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT HONORABLE RICHARD J.SANKOVITZ, PRESIDING

## APPELLANT'S BRIEF

TIM PROVIS Appellate Counsel Bar No. 1020123

123 East Beutel Road Port Washington, WI 53074 (414) 339-4458

Attorney for Appellant MUNIZ-MUNOZ

##

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether sleeping jurors deprived Mr. Muniz-Munoz of his basic constitutional rights to a fair trial and an impartial jury as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Article I, §7, Wis. Const.

The court below repeatedly refused to voir dire jurors seen sleeping by counsel for both parties.

2. Whether Mr. Muniz-Munoz basic Sixth Amendment right to confrontation was violated when the State did not produce the doctor who actually performed the autopsy for cross-examination.

After extensive pretrial consideration, the court below ruled over objection a surrogate doctor could state his opinion on a victim's cause of death. 3. Whether basic Due Process was violated when the court below refused a jury instruction on unrecorded interrogations.

The court below refused an instruction on unrecorded interrogation requested by the defense.

4. Whether, in order to protect his basic human rights, Mr. Muniz-Munoz discovery motion seeking evidence to support his claim of torture should have been granted.

The court below denied the discovery motion seeking this evidence.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not requested.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Counsel requests publication because the opinion here is likely to apply established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from those in previous opinions and therefore will clarify those rules. The third issue is one of first impression.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Nature of the Case

This is a review of Mr. Muniz-Munoz' criminal conviction by a jury of 1<sup>st</sup> degree murder and 1<sup>st</sup> degree recklessly endangering safety.

#### 2. Proceedings Below

On June 30, 2004, complaint number 04-CF-3425 was filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court charging Mr. Muniz-Munoz with violating §§  $940.01(1)(a)(1^{st}$  Degree Intentional Homicide) and 940.01(1)(a) together with 939.32, *Wis. Stats.* (Attempted 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Intentional Homicide). (2).

On July 2, 2004, Mr. Muniz-Munoz appeared with

appointed counsel. (80). Bail was set at \$100,000 and preliminary hearing was set. (80:3-4).

On July 9, 2004, Mr. Muniz-Munoz waived preliminary hearing. (3)(81:4-5). An information, making the identical charges as in the complaint was filed (4) and Mr. Muniz-Munoz entered a not guilty plea by counsel. (81:5).

On August 10, 2004, the State's motion for a protective order was granted without objection. (7)(82:3).

On November 3, 2004, trial counsel's motions in limine, for *Brady* discovery, to suppress statements and to exclude statements violating *Crawford* were filed. (8)(9)(10)(11).

On December 21, 2004, bail was posted for Mr. Muniz-Munoz. (15).

On February 25, 2005, Mr. Muniz-Munoz failed to appear for final pretrial and the court ordered the bond forfeited, issuing an arrest warrant for Mr. Muniz-Munoz. (16)(86:3).

On August 3, 2010, appointed counsel reported Mr. Muniz-Munoz was in custody. (87:2). The court set bail at \$2.5 million. (87:6-7).

On April 1, 2011, defense filed a motion to suppress statements. (18).

On April 6. 2011 the State filed motions to join case No. 05-CF-1249, charging bail jumping (19)(20), and to introduce *Whitty* and gang expert evidence. (21)(22).

On July 11, 2011, defense filed a motion to disclose identity of an informer. (23).

On July 18, 2011 defense filed motions for discovery of exculpatory evidence and to adjourn. (24)(25).

On July 19, 2011, the court granted the motion to adjourn. (26)(91:33-34).

On August 23, 2011, defense filed an additional motion to

compel discovery (27) and on August 29, 2011, the State filed its opposition brief. (28).

On September 9, 2011 (92) and October 14, 2011 (93), the court heard the special discovery motion, denying it. (93:14-15).

On October 14, 2011, the court found sufficient cause for an *in camera* inspection of evidence the confidential informer could provide. (93:2-3).

On November 11, 2011, the court began hearing the defense motion to suppress statements. (94).

On November 14, 2011, defense filed amendments to its suppression motion and a supporting brief (30). The court continued hearing the motion on that date (95) and on November 16 and 22, 2011. (96)(97).

On December 2, 2011, defense filed a motion in limine with a supporting brief, asking, *inter alia*, for exclusion on confrontation grounds of expert testimony as to the cause of death of victim Lara. (32)(33).

On December 8, 2011 the court filed its written decision denying the motion to suppress statements. (35).

On December 12, 2011, the court ruled it would give a jury instruction limiting the use of gang evidence and defense agreed to fashion such an instruction. (100:42, 57).

On December 13, 2011, the court adjourned the trial date for detailed consideration of the *Crawford* issue. (101:10).

On December 21, 2011, the State filed a motion and supporting brief, arguing a surrogate doctor could, consistent with *Crawford*, give his opinion on victim Lara's cause of death. (41).

On December 28, 2011, the court ruled the surrogate doctor could testify to his opinion on victim Lara's cause of death. (102:14-21).

On February 13, 2012, jury trial began with *voir dire*. (103).

On February 14, 2012, a jury was selected and sworn. (105:48, 55). The State began presenting its case. (105:82).

On February 15, 2012, a juror was seen nodding off during the morning session and the court denied the defense motion to dismiss the juror or in the alternative he be *voir dired*. (107:69-73). During the afternoon session, an additional juror was seen sleeping and the court denied the defense motion to *voir dire* both jurors. (108:73-76).

On February 16, 2012, the surrogate doctor testified to his opinion on victim Lara's cause of death. (109:15-18). The State rested. (110:39). Mr. Muniz-Munoz waived his right to testify. (110: 75-80). The defense rested. (110:86). At the instruction conference, the court refused defense's special instruction #2. (45)(110:89-91).

On February 17, 2012, the jury returned its verdicts, finding Mr. Muniz-Munoz guilty of the murder charged in Count 1 (48) and guilt of the lesser included offense of 1<sup>st</sup> degree recklessly endangering safety. (49)(111:91-92).

(Before sentencing, in exchange for the State's recommendation for time served to run concurrent, Mr, Muniz-Munoz entered a plea of guilty to the bail jumping charge in No. 05-CF-1249. (112:4-9).)

On March 10, 2012, the court sentenced Mr. Muniz-Munoz to life imprisonment with eligibility for release in 35 years on the murder charge. (112:4-9) and to a concurrent sentence of 5 years confinement and 5 years of extended supervision on the recklessly endangering safety conviction. (112:61). (The court's sentence on the bail jumping charge was a year in county jail, granting 365 days time served. (112:62).)

Notice of Intent was filed April 4, 2012 (55) and Notice of Appeal was filed March 26, 2014. (78).

#### 3. Facts of the Offenses

Testifying pursuant to an agreement with the State for a reduced sentence (107:21-22, 49-52), Lionel Diaz-Luna swore he participated in a shooting with Mr. Muniz-Munoz, (107:10-26). He saw a gun in Mr. Muniz-Munoz hand and saw him shoot it. *Id*. Adrian Lara died as a result of this shooting. (106:88)(108:94)(109:18).

#### <u>Argument</u>

## I. MR. MUNIZ-MUNOZ BASIC CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND AN IMPARTIAL JURY WERE VIOLATED BY SLEEPING JURORS.

#### A. Additional Facts

During the morning trial session on February 15, 2012, the court reported a sidebar about a sleeping juror. (107:69-73). Both court and trial counsel observed the juror closing his eyes repeatedly. *Id.* Trial counsel reported, "he looked like he was asleep to me . . ." (107:72 [lines 1-2]). Counsel requested the juror be replaced and repeatedly asked he be *voir dired.* (107:71-72). The court denied the motion. (107:73 [lines 7-8 "He wasn't snoozing very much at all to begin with."]).

During the afternoon session that day, the court reported another sidebar about a second sleeping juror. (108:73-76). See (108:74 [line 16: DA reports, "purple was sleeping"]). Trial counsel's request for *voir dire* of both jurors was denied. (108:16).

B. Standard of Review

Whether the right to a fair trial has been violated by an inattentive juror is an issue of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v*. *Turner*, 186 Wis.2d 277, 284, 521 N.W.2d 148, 151 (Ct.App.1984)(hearing impaired jurors).

#### C. Discussion

It is settled the federal and state constitutions "require

that a criminal not be tried by a juror who cannot comprehend the testimony." *State v. Hampton*, 201 Wis.2d 662, 668, 549 N.W.2d 756 (Ct.App.1996) following *Turner*, *supra*, *id*. and followed in *State v. Novy*, 2013 WI 23, ¶47, 346 Wis.2d 289, 312, 827 N.W.2d 610, 621. If jurors have not heard all of the material testimony, "due to . . . a state of semi-consciousness, [this] could imperil the guarantees of impartiality and due process." 201 Wis.2d at 668; *Novy*, *supra*, *id*.

*Hampton*, the leading case by virtue of its approval in *Novy*, sets up requirements for determining this issue. First there must be "timely" objections. 201 Wis.2d at 670. Secondly, there must be "specificity" to the objections. *Id.* at 670-671. Then, the trial court must use its "informed discretion" to decide if there was prejudice. *Id.* at 670.

As with any issue involving a juror's potential discharge, "the court must approach the issue with extreme caution," *State v. Lehman*, 108 Wis.2d 291, 300, 321 N.W.2d 212 (1982), "mak[ing] careful inquiry into the substance of the request . . . *Id*.

Here, there could be no dispute there were timely and specific objections, see (107:69-73; 108:73-76), so the issue is whether the court below's response was sufficient. Examining this issue, trial counsel reported a juror "looked like he was asleep to me" (107:72 [lines 1-2]) and the State reported a juror was asleep. (108:74 [line 16 "purple was asleep"]). Based on the court's own observations, it concluded the juror "wasn't snoozing very much at all to begin with" (107:73 [lines 7-8]) and denied both the request to replace one juror and to *voir dire* both jurors. (107:71)(108:76).

In *Hampton*, the trial court observed the juror was "dozing." 201 Wis.2d 668, n.1. Since the dictionary definition of "dozing" is "a light sleep," *id.*, the *Hampton* court found "it is conceded a juror was sleeping . . ." 201 Wis.2d at 673. In such circumstances, the *Hampton* court found an erroneous exercise of discretion and remanded for a fact finding hearing on the issue. *Id*.

Here, Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary (11th

ed.2009) at 1181 defines "snoozing" as "to take a nap" so counsel submits the court's comments here, as in *Hampton*, are a concession the juror was sleeping and it was error justifying remand for the court below to refuse trial counsel's requests for juror *voir dire*.

Therefore, there should be a remand to determine (1) "the length of time of the attentiveness" (2) "the importance of the testimony missed" and (3) "whether such inattention prejudiced" Mr. Muniz-Munoz. 201 Wis.2d at 673.

II. MR. MUNIZ-MUNOZ RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE STATE PRODUCED ONLY A SURROGATE AUTOPSY DOCTOR TO TESTIFY TO THE CAUSE OF DEATH OF VICTIM LARA.

A. Additional Facts

On December 2, 2011, trial counsel filed a motion *in limine*, asking, among other things, to exclude expert testimony on the cause of death on confrontation grounds because the State planned to produce only a surrogate autopsy doctor.  $(32:1, \P3)(33)$ .

On December 21, 2011, the State filed its motion on this *Crawford* issue, arguing a surrogate doctor should be allowed to state his expert opinion on the cause of death of victim Lara. (41)

On December 28, 2011, the court below decided a surrogate autopsy doctor could testify to his opinion on the cause of death of victim Lara. (102:14-21).

The controversy arose because the actual autopsy doctor was deceased. (109:15). The autopsy report was never offered nor admitted in evidence. Nevertheless, after reviewing it and the other contents of the autopsy file, including investigative reports, the surrogate, Dr. Peterson, testified to his opinion on the cause of victim Lara's death. (109:15-17).

#### B. Standard of Review

Whether admission of evidence violates an accused's right to confrontation is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Hale*, 2005 WI 7, ¶41, 277 Wis.2d 593, 691 N.W.2d 637.

#### C. Discussion

"[A] new day dawned [] for Confrontation Clause jurisprudence" with the decision in *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). *Hale*, *supra*, ¶57. Under *Crawford*, *supra*, the "threshold question," *Hale* at ¶53, in any Confrontation Clause issue is whether the State has used "testimonial" evidence against the accused without showing unavailability of the source witness and a prior opportunity for the accused to cross-examine that witness. 541 U.S. at 68.

The thorniest aspect of this threshold question, and perhaps the hottest issue today in constitutional criminal law is the application of *Crawford* to forensic analysis. See generally, Richard D. Friedman, *Confrontation and Forensic Laboratory Reports, Round Four*, 45 Tex. Tech. L.R. 51, 52-53. (2012) (NOTE: The issue presented here is now being reviewed by the state supreme court in *State v. Griep*, 2014 WI App 25 rev. granted 8/5/14.)

Two years before *Crawford*, the state supreme court, following the decisions of other jurisdictions, found no confrontation error when the State failed to produce the crime lab analyst who had analyzed the drugs involved there and found them to be cocaine. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 58, ¶9-¶26, 253 Wis.2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919.

Since *Crawford*, the highest Court has made rulings questioning, if not abrogating, the *Williams, supra*, rule.

First, in *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305. 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009), the Court found certificates of state crime lab analysts attesting to their analysis of drugs were "testimonial" and reversed because the certificates were admitted absent the testimony of the analysts

themselves. As the dissenters recognized, the Court had made it clear "it will not permit the testimonial statement of one witness to enter into evidence through the in-court testimony of a second . . ." 557 U.S. at 334 (dis. opn. per Kennnedy, J.).

Next in *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 564 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 180 L.Ed.2d 610 (2011), the Court found the report of a blood alcohol analyst, though not sworn, was "testimonial" and so could not be introduced through the testimony of an analyst who neither participated in nor observed the actual analysis. 131 S.Ct. 2715-2718. The Court reversed and remanded, holding "surrogate testimony of that order does not meet the constitutional requirement." 131 S.Ct. at 2710.

But, as a Justice there recognized, *Bullcoming*, *supra*, did not resolve the question presented here: "the constitutionality of allowing an expert witness to discuss other's testimonial statements if the testimonial statements were not admitted as evidence." 131 S.Ct. at 2272. (conc. opn. per Sotomayor). Put another way: Does *State v. Williams, supra*, survive *Crawford*?

Returning to the "threshold question," were the autopsy report and other investigative reports the surrogate doctor used to support his opinion "testimonial evidence?"

While no Wisconsin case addresses this issue, other jurisdictions easily find an autopsy report is testimonial, applying the *Bullcoming* definition: "A document created solely for 'an evidentiary purpose,' *Melendez-Diaz* clarified, made in aid of a police investigation ranks as testimonial." 131 S.Ct. at 2717. See, *e.g.*, *U.S. v. Ignasiak*, 667 F.3d 1217, 1230, 1233 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir.2012)(at 1230: "Forensic reports are testimonial evidence." and at 1233: "Autopsy reports are like many other types of forensic evidence used in criminal prosecutions."). As in *State v. Navarette*, 2013-NMSC-003, ¶17, \_\_\_\_\_ N.M. \_\_\_\_, 294 P.3d 435, so here "there is no reason that [Dr. Teggatz], aware of his statutory duties to report, should not have anticipated that criminal litigation would result from [his] autopsy findings of death by a bullet wound . .."

Counsel submits such autopsy reports are testimonial. The fact Dr. Teggatz' report was not admitted in evidence is immaterial to the analysis. See *U.S. v. Turner*, 709 F.3d 1187, 1191-1194 (7th Cir.2013)("notes, test results and written report not admitted into evidence" but confrontation analysis is the same).

So while it can't be disputed Dr. Teggatz was unavailable at trial, the State presented no evidence showing a prior opportunity to cross-examine him. Therefore, Mr. Muniz-Munoz right to confrontation was violated when the surrogate, Dr. Peterson, testified to his opinion on the cause of death.

Anticipating a State's response based on *Williams v. Illinois*, 567 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 2221, 183 L.Ed.2d 89 (2012) as interpreted in *State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, 350 Wis.2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362, counsel notes these decisions have been confined to their specific facts. *Deadwiller, supra*, ¶32 & ¶36 (*Williams* holding will be applied only to defendants in "a substantially identical position" as Sandy Williams). Mr. Muniz-Munoz is not in a "substantially identical position" as Sandy Williams since the autopsy report was prepared by a state official to aid a criminal investigation.

III. IT WAS FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR TO REFUSE A JURY INSTRUCTION ON UNRECORDED INTERROGATION.

A. Additional Facts

The police interrogations of Mr. Muniz-Munoz took place on June 27, 28 & 29 2004. (94:29-30). They were not electronically recorded. (109:26-27, 88-90). Trial counsel requested a special jury instruction on the use of evidence of unrecorded interrogations. (45). The court below refused to give the instruction. (110:89-91). The court gave the jury the standard jury instruction on confessions, Wis JI-Criminal 180, but did not include the paragraph referring to unrecorded interrogations. (47:6)(111:21-22).

#### B. Standard of Review

Whether jury instructions violate basic Due Process is an issue of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v Kuntz*, 160 Wis.2d 722, 735, 467 N.W.2d 531 (1991).

#### C. Discussion

In State v. Jerrell C.J., 2005 WI 105, ¶3, 283 Wis.2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110, the state supreme court exercised its supervisory authority to require all police interrogations of juveniles be electronically recorded. The high court based this decision on a number of policy considerations including "such a rule will protect the rights of the accused," noting that without such recordings "law enforcement officials invariably win" the credibility contest over whether the interrogation was proper. *Id.* at ¶55. The court also noted New Jersey was considering adopting similar rules. *Id.* at ¶44, n. 10.

With 2005 Act 60, the legislature enacted a number of innocence reforms. See generally Katherine R. Kruse, Instituting Innocence Reform: etc., 2006 Wis. L .Rev. 645, 646-647. Among other things, "[t]his Wisconsin legislation codified and extended" Jerrell C.J., supra. 2006 Wis. L. Rev. at 691. Especially pertinent here, it created §972.115, Wis. Stats., which provides where "a statement made by a defendant during a custodial interrogation is admitted into evidence in a trial for a felony before a jury" and no electronic recording is available, then, upon defendant's request "the court shall instruct the jury that it is the policy of this state to make an audio or audio and visual recording of a custodial interrogation of a person suspected of committing a felony and that the jury may consider the absence of an audio or audio and visual recording of the interrogation in evaluating the evidence relating to the interrogation and the statement in the case" Subsection (2)(a).

Now, counsel cannot dispute either that the special instruction trial counsel requested was more detailed than the statutory language or that it did not specifically include that language. (45). As trial counsel noted, her instruction was modeled on a charge the New Jersey Supreme Court adopted

to implement its Rule Governing Criminal Practice 3.17 which is substantially similar to §972.115, *Wis. Stats.* (110:90).

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