RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-01-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP702-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MIGUEL MUNIZ-MUNOZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RICHARD J. SANKOVITZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (Phone), (608) 266-9594 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

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

In fact, that didn't happen until after we took [a brief sidebar break], and the instant it happened is when he started to keep his eyes open more frequently. After we took the break, what I mean by "break" is the sidebar, [defense counsel] wisely eyeballed him once and that helped revive him a bit. And then within I'd say about four minutes of that, at the end of the sidebar, I actually caught him eyeto-eye, and from that point forward it wasn't a problem.

(107:69-70; A-Ap. 6-7).

The court found that Juror Brunner was not asleep and did not miss testimony (107:70; A-Ap. 7). It found that Brunner was, at most, "closing his eyes and listening without looking[,] which isn't the best of situations but it's not the worst" (*id.*). Accordingly, it determined that it did not need to release Brunner or have testimony repeated (*id.*).

Defense counsel objected, telling the court that after the sidebar she saw Brunner "close his eyes quite a bit" and "looked like he was sleeping to me" (107:70-71; A-Ap. 7-8). She asked that Brunner either be removed or questioned away from the other jurors as to whether he had fallen asleep (*id.*).

After asking counsel follow-up questions, the court reiterated its findings that Brunner did not fall asleep:

Like I said, for about four minutes after the sidebar, he continued to close his eyes on and off, never more than ten seconds. And I don't believe he was doing anything more than closing his eyes. I think it's fair to say that you [defense counsel] were concentrating on

your cross-examination, so you weren't able, as I was, to watch him constantly for ten to fifteen seconds at a time, which is what I was doing . . . in hopes of catching him eyeball to eyeball. And the second I did that, he was perfectly awake for the rest of the time[,] which is another sign that he wasn't that deeply asleep. But I don't even want to suggest that he was at all asleep. He wasn't snoozing very much at all to begin with.

(107:72-73; A-Ap. 9-10).

The circuit court did not clearly err in finding that Juror Brunner was not sleeping. As the court explained, it was in a position to observe Brunner for extended periods. During that time, it never saw him close his eyes for more than ten seconds at a time. It observed Brunner briefly nod his head once, but also noted that eye contact from defense counsel and the court encouraged Brunner to keep his eyes open. It further observed that Brunner seemed "perfectly awake" and alert after that eye contact, which suggested that Brunner had not fallen asleep at all.

Under *Novy*, because the court found that Juror Brunner did not fall asleep, it properly exercised its discretion in declining to grant Muniz-Munoz's request for a voir dire, and for not making additional findings and conclusions as to prejudice.

Muniz-Munoz seizes upon the court's use of the word "snoozing"—i.e., "[h]e wasn't snoozing very much at all to begin with"—to argue that the court indeed conceded that Brunner was asleep (Muniz-Munoz's br. at 7-8). But because context matters, Muniz-Munoz's tortured interpretation cannot succeed.

Just before it made that remark, the court stated, "I don't even want to suggest that he was at all asleep" (107:73; A-Ap. 10). The court did not then immediately contradict itself and use the word "snoozing" to indicate that it indeed believed that Brunner was asleep. Rather, its use of "snoozing" appeared to be shorthand for its observations of Brunner's closing his eyes

for no more than ten seconds at a time and once nodding his head, before Brunner corrected himself. The court stated that from its vantage point, Brunner never became semiconscious such that he missed material testimony.

C. The circuit court likewise properly declined to question the second juror.

As an initial matter, Muniz-Munoz fails to present relevant facts or any argument for why the court's refusal to question the second juror was improper. Accordingly, this court may decline to address this portion of his argument, to the extent he raises it, as inadequately briefed. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (this court may decline to address issues inadequately briefed).

That said, it does not appear that there was a legitimate concern about a second juror sleeping. During the afternoon break on the same day, the court noted that defense counsel Vishny requested a sidebar because "she was concerned about one of the jurors nodding off, Mr. Gardner" (108:73; A-Ap. 11). The court explained that after being alerted to the concern, he watched Juror Gardner and "had not seen a single problem" (id.).

The court invited Vishny to "add anything to the record," and Vishny stated, "Just that as soon as I saw it, I brought it to the Court's attention. [Defense co-counsel] Mr. Lockwood told me, and I tried to get the Court's attention right away" (id.). Shortly after, Attorney Lockwood provided no additional description of what he thought he saw Gardner doing (or if he did, it was inaudible to the reporter):

- 7 -

³ Attorney Vishny appeared to request the sidebar at 108:67, when the court asked Vishny if she had "a question on something in the courtroom." After the sidebar, the testimony continued through the break at 108:73.

The only thing I noticed about Mr. Gardner at some point before the cross, because I didn't want to interrupt Ms. Vishny, but he was—(Inaudible)—and trying to get her attention and kept looking at you and attempted to get your attention and simply thought it was appropriate when we went to sidebar to let you know that.

(108:75; A-Ap. 13). Vishny subsequently requested questioning of Gardner and Brunner, and the court declined that request (108:76; A-Ap. 14).

Again, Muniz-Munoz makes no argument why the court's decision was improper, nor can he. Defense counsel alerted the court to their concerns about Gardner, the court subsequently observed Gardner, and the court did not see "a single problem" (108:73; A-Ap. 11) with Gardner appearing to close his eyes or nod off. The record offers nothing to suggest what defense counsel thought Gardner did that caused concern, or that anyone else observed behavior in Gardner that would have justified further questioning on whether he was asleep.⁴

To be sure, during this discussion, counsel for the State expressed concerns about *Juror Brunner* seeming to show signs of drowsiness again (108:74; A-Ap. 12). The court explained that

⁴ If Muniz-Munoz suggests that counsel for the State, Attorney Huebner, agreed that Gardner was sleeping (Muniz-Munoz's br. at 7), that is false. As noted above, Huebner raised additional concerns during the discussion about Juror Brunner, not Juror Gardner. When Huebner did that, it became apparent that he mistakenly thought defense counsels' concerns were also about Brunner. See 108:74; A-Ap. 12 (series of questions where Vishny explained that she was talking about Gardner, and Huebner explained that he was not talking about Gardner but rather "purple," which the court seemed to understand to signify Brunner); id. at 75; A-Ap. 13 (Huebner explaining that he had mistakenly believed that defense counsel was concerned about the juror "in the purple shirt" and that he didn't realize that the defense had concerns "about a whole different juror"). Indeed, when asked whether he noticed any problems with Juror Gardner, Huebner stated, "I didn't notice anything about [Gardner]" (108:75; A-Ap. 13).

it had observed Brunner after the sidebar and again found that Juror Brunner was not sleeping:

I would say less than half a dozen times, no more than three seconds I saw him close his eyes. I never saw a head nod or anything else like that. Sometimes when people's eyes' closing, they only are opened less than half-mast, you get the impression they are only fluttering open. He had his eyes open wider than that. I'm not concerned at all about Juror Brunner.

(108:75; A-Ap. 13). Again, those findings are not clear error, and the court properly declined to explore the issue further.

In sum, the court found that neither Juror Brunner nor Juror Gardner was sleeping. The court supported those findings with a detailed explanation of its own observations in the record; they are not clearly erroneous. Accordingly, Muniz-Munoz's rights to an impartial jury and fair trial were not compromised. He is not entitled to relief on this claim.⁵

II. The circuit court properly concluded that the State did not violate Muniz-Munoz's confrontation rights when it presented testimony from Dr. Peterson, a medical examiner who formed an independent opinion as to the cause of the victim's death based in part on an unavailable expert's autopsy report.

Muniz-Munoz's second argument, in which he invokes his right to confrontation based on the State's use of a medical examiner, Dr. Brian Peterson, who did not perform the autopsy of the victim, Lara, fails because Dr. Peterson formed his own opinion as to the cause of Lara's death. Further, Lara's cause of death by multiple gunshot wounds was not a fact in dispute,

⁵ Because the circuit court found that neither Brunner nor Gardner were sleeping, it did not make findings or conclusions as to prejudice. *See State v. Novy*, 2013 WI 23, ¶¶47-48, 346 Wis. 2d 289, 827 N.W.2d 610. Accordingly, if this court determines that the circuit court's findings were clearly erroneous, it should remand for a hearing for findings as to prejudice.

rendering any error in admitting Dr. Peterson's opinion harmless.

A. An expert witness who testifies to his independently formed opinion, even if that opinion is in part based on an unavailable expert's report, does not offend a defendant's confrontation rights.

"The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides that '[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." *State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, ¶20, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362 (quoting U.S. Const. art. VI).

In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), the United States Supreme Court "held that the Confrontation Clause permitted the admission of '[t]estimonial statements of witnesses absent from trial . . . only where the declarant is unavailable, and only where the defendant has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine.'" *Deadwiller*, 350 Wis. 2d 138, ¶20 (quoting *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59).

But a defendant's right to confrontation is not violated when an expert testifies to his or her own independently formed opinion that is based in part on another unavailable expert's test results. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 58, ¶81, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919. In *Williams*, the supreme court emphasized the important "distinction between an expert who forms an opinion based in part on the work of others and an expert who merely summarizes the work of others. In short, one expert cannot act as a mere conduit for the opinion of another." *Id.* ¶19.

The *Williams* court set forth the following standard in confrontation cases:

[T]he presence and availability for cross-examination of a highly qualified witness, who is familiar with the procedures at hand, supervises or reviews the work of the testing analyst, and renders her own expert opinion is sufficient to protect a defendant's right to confrontation, despite the fact that the expert was not the person who performed the mechanics of the original tests.

Id. ¶20.

Recently, the supreme court reexamined the principles of *Williams* and *Deadwiller* in light of subsequent federal law examining other confrontation challenges. *State v. Griep*, 2015 WI 40, ¶40, ___ Wis. 2d ___, __ N.W.2d ___. In so doing, it reaffirmed the rule announced in *Williams* and *Deadwiller* that "if the expert witness reviewed data created by the non-testifying analyst and formed an independent opinion, the expert's testimony does not violate the Confrontation Clause." *Id*.

Although "'a circuit court's decision to admit evidence is ordinarily a matter for the court's discretion, whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right of confrontation is a question of law subject to independent appellate review.'" *Id.* ¶17 (quoting *Deadwiller*, 350 Wis. 2d 138, ¶17 and *Williams*, 253 Wis. 2d 99, ¶7).

B. Dr. Peterson testified to his independently formed opinion that multiple gunshot wounds caused Lara's death. He was not a conduit for the unavailable expert's view.

At trial, Dr. Peterson, the Milwaukee County medical examiner, testified that in his opinion, Lara died of multiple gunshot wounds (109:13; A-Ap. 22). Dr. Peterson testified that although he usually formed an opinion of the cause of death based on his own autopsy, his training and experience also allowed him to review others' work to form an opinion as to a cause of death (109:14-15; A-Ap. 23-24).

Dr. Peterson stated that in this case, he did not personally examine Lara and perform the autopsy, but rather that the late Dr. John Teggatz had done the autopsy (108:96; 109:15; A-Ap. 24). In cases where Dr. Peterson does not personally perform an autopsy, he looks to "everything that is available," including autopsy reports, investigative reports, any reports from paramedics or the police, toxicology reports, and photographs (109:15-16; A-Ap. 24-25). Here, Dr. Peterson stated that after reviewing all of the materials available to him—including multiple photographs of Lara's body that showed that Lara had 27 wounds caused by ten gunshots—he independently opined that those multiple gunshots caused Lara's death. (109:18, 22, 24; A-Ap. 27). As Muniz-Munoz indicates in his brief, Dr. Teggatz's autopsy report was not introduced at trial.

The facts of this case are consistent the other Wisconsin cases in which the courts concluded that a surrogate expert did not violate the defendant's confrontation rights. Here, Muniz-Munoz does not dispute that Dr. Peterson, as the Milwaukee County Medical Examiner, is well-qualified to opine on the cause of death in forensic examinations. He does not dispute that Dr. Peterson is familiar with autopsy procedure, or that he is qualified to opine on the cause of death of a victim where he did not personally perform the autopsy. He does not challenge Dr. Peterson's numerous assertions that he formed his opinion independently based on his review of multiple reports and photographs, not just the autopsy report. Indeed, nothing in the record suggests that Dr. Peterson simply adopted Dr. Teggatz's opinions as his own and acted as a conduit to get those opinions in. Dr. Peterson made clear several times in his

_

⁶ See, e.g., State v. Williams, 2002 WI 58, ¶26, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919 (concluding that unit leader's testimony did not violate the Confrontation Clause because she was well-qualified and gave an independent expert opinion); State v. Barton, 2006 WI App 18, ¶11, 289 Wis. 2d 206, 709 N.W.2d 93.

testimony that he reached his opinion independently based on the materials available to him (109:18, 22, 23-24; A-Ap. 27).

Rather, Muniz-Munoz asserts that because he had no prior opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Teggatz, his "right to confrontation was violated when the surrogate, Dr. Peterson, testified to his opinion on the cause of death" (Muniz-Munoz's br. at 11). But as noted above, Dr. Teggatz's opinion was not presented to the jury, either in the form of the autopsy report or through Dr. Peterson as a conduit. Rather, Dr. Peterson provided his independent opinion, and Muniz-Munoz had an opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Peterson on Dr. Peterson's opinion. Hence, under *Griep*, *Williams*, and *Deadwiller*, there is no confrontation problem.

Because Dr. Peterson's testimony did not violate Muniz-Munoz's confrontation rights, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in allowing him to testify.

C. Alternatively, any error was harmless.

Even assuming that the admission of Dr. Peterson's testimony was somehow improper, "a Confrontation Clause violation . . . is subject to harmless error analysis." Deadwiller, 350 Wis. 2d 138, ¶41 (citations omitted). An error is harmless, when the party benefitting from the error shows that "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Id. (citations omitted). Thus, "[t]o conclude that the error was harmless, this court must determine that 'the jury would have arrived at the same verdict had the error not occurred." Id. (citations omitted). Several factors guide this court's analysis: "the frequency of the error; the importance of the erroneously admitted evidence; the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted evidence; whether the erroneously admitted evidence duplicates untainted evidence; the nature of the defense; the nature of the State's case; and the overall strength of the State's case.'" *Id.* (citation omitted).

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